
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF CONNECTICUT 

 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA   :    
       : 
 Plaintiff,     : 
       :   
 v      : Civil No. 2:85-CV-1078 (PCD)  
       : CONSOLIDATED 
       : 
43.47 ACRES OF LAND, MORE OR LESS,  : 
SITUATED IN THE COUNTY OF  : 
LITCHFIELD, TOWN OF KENT, ET AL. : 
       : 
 Defendants  : February 7, 2012 
 
 

MEMORANDUM OF LAW IN SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR JUDGMENT 
ON THE PLEADINGS  

 
I. INTRODUCTION 
 
 The Nonintercourse Act, 25 U.S.C. §177, as presently codified provides in relevant part 

that:  

No purchase, grant, lease, or other conveyance of lands, or of any title or claim 
thereto, from any Indian nation or tribe of Indians, shall be of any validity in law 
or equity, unless the same be made by treaty or convention entered into pursuant 
to the Constitution.   
 

 Before the court are three matters in which the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation (STN) has 

asserted land claims pursuant to the Nonintercourse Act.  The essential claim made by the STN 

in each case is that the STN is American Indian tribe and that it has been dispossessed from 

Indian land without the approval of Congress in violation of the Nonintercourse Act. 

 The lead case, United States of America v. 43.47 Acres of Land, Docket 2:85-cv 1078 

(PCD), is a condemnation action involving the federal government’s attempt to acquire title to 
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two parcels of land under its powers of eminent domain.  See Amended Complaint in 

Condemnation, docket # 224.  The Schaghticoke Tribal Nation has intervened, claiming to own 

the land on the basis that it had been wrongfully conveyed in violation of the Non-Intercourse 

Act, 25 U.S.C. § 177.  Amended Answer and Affirmative Defenses, docket #230.  

 Schaghticoke Tribal Nation v. Kent School Corporation, Inc., et al, Docket 3:98-cv-1113 

(PCD) and Schaghticoke Tribal Nation v. United States of America et al, Docket 3:00-cv-820 

(PCD) are land claim actions filed by the STN.  The named defendants are those who have a 

current ownership interest in parcels claimed by the Schaghticoke.  The STN alleges, inter alia, 

that between 1801 and 1911 those parcels were sold or transferred by the State of Connecticut in 

violation of the provisions of the Nonintercourse Act, 25 U.S.C. § 177.  The STN claims that 

those transfers are “void, illegal and of no effect” and that, among other relief, the Defendants 

should be ejected and possession of the land should be returned to the Schaghticoke.  

 The issue that is common to all of the cases is whether or not the Schaghticoke Tribal 

Nation exists under federal law as an Indian tribe.  If the STN does not exist as an Indian tribe, it 

has no standing to pursue its claims under the Indian Nonintercourse Act.  Existence as an Indian 

tribe means that the tribe has a government to government trust relationship with the United 

States.  As noted by Judge Arterton in Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe of Indians v. Rell, 463 

F.Supp. 2d 192, 195 (D. Conn. 2006) 

In order “[t]o establish a prima facie case based on a violation of the 
[Nonintercourse] Act, a plaintiff must show that (1) it is an Indian tribe, (2) the 
land is tribal land, (3) the United States has never consented to or approved the 
alienation of this tribal land, and (4) the trust relationship between the United 
States and the tribe has not been terminated or abandoned.” [Golden Hill 
Paugussett Tribe of Indians v. Weiker, 39 F.3d 51, 56 (2d Cir. 1994]. “Federal 
courts have held that to prove tribal status under the Nonintercourse Act, an 
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Indian group must show that it is ‘a body of Indians of the same or a similar race’, 
united in a community under one leadership or government, and inhabiting a 
particular though sometimes ill-defined territory.” Id. at 59 (citing United States v. 
Candelaria, 271 U.S. 432, 442, 46 S.Ct. 561, 70 L.Ed. 1023 (1926); Montoya v. 
United States, 180 U.S. 261, 266, 36 Ct.Cl. 577, 21 S.Ct. 358, 45 L.Ed. 521 
(1901)). 
 

 A group calling itself the Schaghticoke Indian Tribe, by letter dated December 14, 1981, 

filed a notice of intent to submit an acknowledgment petition with the Department of Interior, 

Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA).  Thereafter, on December 12, 1994, the Schaghticoke Tribal 

Nation submitted a “documented” petition to the BIA requesting acknowledgement as an Indian 

tribe under the provisions of the federal acknowledgment regulations, 25 C.F.R. Part 83.   

The [Bureau of Indian Affairs] has established policies and procedures for 
acknowledging that certain American Indian groups exist as tribes.  Federal 
acknowledgment of tribal existence by the [Department of the Interior] is a 
prerequisite to the protection, services, and benefits of the Federal government 
available to Indian tribes by virtue of their status as tribes.  25 C.F.R. § 83.2. 
Acknowledgment also establishes a government-to-government relationship with 
the United States and entitles a tribe to the immunities and privileges available to 
other federally acknowledged Indian tribes.  Id. See also Cherokee Nation v. 
Georgia, 30 U.S. 1, 17, 5 Pet. 1, 8 L.Ed. 25 (1831).  The acknowledgment 
regulations apply to “those American Indian groups indigenous to the continental 
United States which are not currently acknowledged as Indian tribes by the 
Department” and are “intended to apply to groups that can establish a 
substantially continuous tribal existence and which have functioned as 
autonomous entities throughout history until the present.”  Id. § 83.3.  Because a 
tribe is a political, not a racial, classification, Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 
553, 94 S.Ct. 2474, 41 L.Ed.2d 290 (1974), the essential requirement for 
acknowledgment is continuity of tribal existence. 59 Fed. Reg. 9280, 9282 (Feb. 
25, 1994). 
 
The acknowledgment regulations contain seven criteria, each of which must be 
satisfied by the petitioner … .  A petition must be denied if the available evidence 
“demonstrates that it does not meet one or more of the criteria,” or if there is 
“insufficient evidence that it meets one or more of the criteria.”  Id. § 83.6(d).  
Although conclusive proof is not required, the available evidence must establish 
“a reasonable likelihood of the validity of the facts relating to that criterion.”  Id.  
The burden of proof rests on the petitioner.  Id. § 83.6(c). 
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Schaghticoke Tribal Nation v. Kempthorne, 587 F. Supp. 2d 389, 400 (D. Conn. 2008) aff’d 587 

F.3d 132 (2nd Cir. 2009), cert. den. sub. nom. Schaghticoke Tribal Nation v. Salizar, __ U.S. __, 

131 S. Ct 127, 178 L. Ed. 2d (2010), rehearing den., __ U.S. __, 131 S.Ct. 698, 178 L.Ed.2d 527 

(2010).  

 Recognizing that the doctrine of primary jurisdiction transfers from the courts to 

administrative agencies the power to determine complex factual issues such as those pertaining 

to the determination of tribal status, the Court initially stayed these proceedings to allow the 

Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) the opportunity to decide whether or not the Schaghticoke Tribal 

Nation constituted an Indian tribe for purposes of federal acknowledgment.1  The Court vacated 

the stay2 but reinstated it when, after conference, the Department of the Interior, the STN and the 

land claim defendants agreed on an expedited and enhanced administrative process by which the 

BIA would review and act upon the STN’s petition for acknowledgment.  Thus, on May 8, 2001, 

the Court entered a Scheduling Order3, the purpose of which was  

to permit, and establish a framework for, the determination by the Department of 
Interior (‘DOI’) on the petition for tribal acknowledgment submitted by the 
Schaghticoke Tribal Nation.  This Order is meant to serve the rights and interests 
of all parties to the captioned litigation and allow the DOI to determine the merits 

                                                           
1  Ruling on Pending Motions (March 31, 1999) , pp 5-6, 12 citing United States v. Western 
Pacific Railroad, 352 U.S. 59, 65, 77 S.Ct. 161, 1 L.Ed.2d 126 (1956).  Docket # 128 in 43.47 
Acres of Land, Civ. No 2:85cv1078, Docket # 41 in Kent School Corp., Civ. No. 3:98cv1113.   
 
2  Ruling on Pending Motions (September 11, 2000), Docket # 158 in 43.47 Acres of Land, Civ. 
No 2:85cv1078, Docket # 85 in Kent School Corp., Civ. No. 3:98cv1113.   
 
3  Docket # 170 in 43.47 Acres of Land, Civ. 2:85cv1078, Docket # 105 in Kent School Corp., 
Civ. No. 3:98cv1113 and Docket # 33 in Schaghticoke Tribal Nation, Civ. No 3:00cv820. 
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of the petition on a schedule other than that set forth in the applicable regulations, 
25 C.F.R. Part 83 …   
 

The Scheduling Order permitted the BIA to determine the merits of the STN’s petition for 

federal acknowledgment, and more specifically whether the STN existed as an Indian tribe 

within the meaning of federal law.  

 Following issuance of the Scheduling Order, the Bureau of Indian Affairs undertook an 

extensive evaluation of the STN’s petition in order to determine whether the Schaghticoke Tribal 

Nation existed as an Indian tribe.  The administrative process included submission of extensive 

evidence, argument and comment by the STN and other interested parties, and the evaluation and 

sifting of that evidence by the Department’s professional staff. 4  The process included the 

issuance of a Proposed Finding against acknowledgment (available at 

<http://www.bia.gov/idc/groups/xofa/documents/text/idc-001594.pdf>, accessed Feb. 3, 2012),  

67 Fed. Reg. 76184 (Dec. 11, 2002) 5, followed by petitioner and public comment, a Final 

Determination For Acknowledgment, that overcame absence of evidence of “community” and 

“political authority” by relying on an implicit state relationship and endogamy rates (available at 

<http://www.bia.gov/idc/groups/xofa/documents/text/idc-001590.pdf> accessed Feb. 3, 2012), 

69 Fed. Reg. 5570 (Feb. 5, 2004) 6, a review of the Final Determination by the independent 

                                                           
4  The filed administrative record included approximately 6,774 documents comprising over 
47,000 pages, as well as a number of CD-ROM disks and DVDs with additional information.  A 
complete description of the administrative record was set forth in the Notice of Manual Filing of 
Administrative Record [Docket #131] filed in this court in the case entitled Schaghticoke Tribal 
Nation v. Kempthorne, Civ. No. 3:36cv00081 (PCD). 
  
5  The Federal Register Notice of the Proposed Finding is attached as Exhibit A. 
 
6  The Federal Register Notice of the Final Determination is attached as Exhibit B. 
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Indian Board of Indian Appeals that vacated and remanded the Final Determination (In re 

Federal Acknowledgment of the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation, 41 IBIA 30, 2005 WL 2672009 

(May 12, 2005), further comments and submission of evidence after remand by the STN and 

others, and finally issuance of the Department’s Reconsidered Final Determination Denying 

Federal Acknowledgment of the Petitioner Schaghticoke Tribal Nation (RFD) 7 on October 11, 

2005.  70 Fed. Reg. 60101 (Oct. 14, 2005).  See RFD at pp 1-6; Schaghticoke, 587 F.Supp.2d at 

401-403, 407-409.  70 Fed. Reg. at 60103.   

 The Reconsidered Final Determination (RFD) concluded that the Schaghticoke Tribal 

Nation did not satisfy two of the mandatory criteria necessary for federal acknowledgment, 

specifically “community” under 25 C.F.R. §83.7(b) and “political influence or authority” under 

25 C.F.R. §83.7(c).  As such, the STN was not entitled to acknowledgment as an Indian tribe.  

See RFD, at pp 44-45, 58 & 62; 70 Fed. Reg. at 60103. 

 Upon rejection of its petition for acknowledgment, the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation 

appealed the Reconsidered Final Determination to the District Court by petition for review 

pursuant to the APA, 5 U.S.C. § 702 et seq.  After extensive and unusual discovery, the parties 

filed cross motions for summary judgment.   

 In deciding the claims raised by the cross motions for summary judgment, the Court, 

Dorsey, J., found that the RFD properly re-examined the State’s relationship with the 

Schaghticoke in accordance with the instructions of the IBIA.  In addition, the Court found that 

the RFD’s conclusion that the state relationship failed to demonstrate the actual existence of a 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
 

 6

Case 2:85-cv-01078-AWT   Document 307    Filed 02/07/12   Page 6 of 28



political community throughout most of the Schaghticoke’s history was a “thorough, rational and 

well reasoned evaluation of the evidence”.  Schaghticoke, 587 F.Supp.2d at 413-414.  Further, 

the Court found that the RFD’s conclusion that Schaghticoke marriage rates were insufficient to 

provided evidence of “community” and “political authority” under 25 C.F.R. §§ 83.7(b)(2)(ii) 

and (c)(3) was premised upon a reasonable interpretation of the regulations and agency 

precedent.  Moreover, that conclusion represented an “informed, reasoned decision” after the 

professionals within the agency had “engaged with the academic debates on this issue”.  Id. at 

415-416.  Finally, the Court concluded that the RFD was “reasonable based on the evidence” in 

its conclusion that after 1996, the STN failed to satisfy criteria (b) community and (c) political 

authority based on the fact that a substantial portion of the Schaghticoke refused to be enrolled as 

members of the STN.  Id. at 418.  The court granted the motions for summary judgment filed by 

the respondents, denied the motion filed by the STN and entered judgment for the respondents.   

Id., 587 F. Supp. 2d at 389.  That decision was affirmed on appeal.  

 Given that the Schaghticoke Tribal Nation has exhausted all administrative and judicial 

process designed to determine whether it exists as an Indian tribe entitled to federal 

acknowledgment, and acknowledged has been denied, judgment on the STN’s land claims must 

be entered in favor of the Defendants and the United States and against the Schaghticoke Tribal 

Nation.  Alternatively, the claims should be dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

II. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
7    The Reconsidered Final Determination (RFD) is attached as Exhibit D.  The Federal Register 
Notice of the Reconsidered Final Determination is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  
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In addressing a Rule 12(c) motion for judgment on the pleadings, a court must enter a 

judgment dismissing the action if, accepting the allegations contained in the complaint as true 

and drawing all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaintiff, the plaintiff can prove no set of 

facts that would entitle it to relief, and the defendant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.  

Greco v. Trauner, Cohen & Thomas, LLP, 412 F.3d 360, 363 (2d Cir. 2005); Sheppard v. 

Beerman, 18 F.3d 147, 150 (2d Cir.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 816 (1994); Patel v. Contemporary 

Classics of Beverly Hills, 259 F.3d. 123, 126 (2nd Cir. 2001).   Rule 12(c) motions generally are 

limited to the facts alleged in the complaint and must be converted into a motion for summary 

judgment if the court considers materials outside the pleadings.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(c).  Without 

converting the motion into one for summary judgment, however, a court may consider 

documents that are attached to, incorporated by reference in, or integral to the complaint, as well 

as any matters subject to judicial notice.  Sira v. Morton, 380 F.3d 57, 59 (2nd Cir. 2004); 

Chambers v. Time Warner, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 152-153 (2nd Cir. 2002). 

Golden Hill v. Rell was a case almost identical to the matters now before the Court.  The 

Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe of Indians had brought land claims under the Nonintercourse Act 

against various defendants seeking restoration of the land and damages.  The court stayed the 

cases pursuant to the doctrine of primary jurisdiction to first allow the BIA the opportunity to 

review and act on Golden Hill’s petition for tribal acknowledgment.  The BIA denied Golden 

Hill’s petition.  The defendants then moved for judgment on the pleadings pursuant to Rule 

12(c), contending that the court should defer and/or give preclusive effect to the factual 

determinations made by the BIA, which would preclude Golden Hill from establishing that it 

was an Indian tribe within the meaning of the Nonintercourse Act.  The court, Arterton, J., 
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determined that it was appropriate to take “judicial notice of the BIA’s Final Determination, 

including the factual findings therein, thus bringing the Final Determination (including the 

factual findings) within the scope of materials that can be considered on a Rule 12(c) motion.”  

Golden Hill v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 197.   See also Kavowras v. New York Times Co., 328 F.3d 

50, 57 (2d Cir. 2003); Opoka v. INS, 94 F.3d 392, 394 (7th Cir. 1996).   

Just as in Golden Hill v. Rell, the Defendants in these proceedings rely on the BIA’s 

Reconsidered Final Determination declining to acknowledge the STN’s as an Indian tribe.  The 

Court should defer to the factual findings contained in the Reconsidered Final Determination and 

give them collateral estoppel effect so as to preclude the STN’s Nonintercourse claim due to its 

inability to demonstrate tribal status.   

 
III. BASED ON THE BIA’S FINDINGS OF LACK OF COMMUNITY AND LACK OF 

POLITICAL AUTHORITY, TO WHICH THIS COURT MUST DEFER, THE STN 
LACKS STANDING TO PURSUE ITS LAND CLAIMS. 

 
 In rejecting the STN’s petition for federal acknowledgment, the BIA found that the STN 

has not existed as a distinct community or exercised political authority or influence from 

historical times to the present and that the STN does not exist as an historical Indian tribe.  See 

70 Fed. Reg. at 60103.  The RFD concluded that insufficient evidence existed to satisfy criterion 

(b) (community) from 1920 to 1967 and after 1996.  RFD, at 37-38, 44-45.  It further concluded 

that insufficient evidence existed to satisfy criterion (c) (political authority) from 1801 to 1875, 

1885 to 1967, and after 1996, a total of about 165 years.  Id. at 57-58, 61-62.  The BIA’s factual 

findings are compelling, and this Court should defer to them in making its legal determination as 

to whether the STN is an Indian tribe with standing to pursue its land claims.  See Golden Hill v. 
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Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 198; Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n. v. Solimino, 501 U.S. 104, 107-08 

(1991); Ricci v. Chicago Mercantile Exchange, 409 U.S. 289, 305-06 (1973).  In addition, the 

BIA’s factual findings are entitled to collateral estoppel effect in these proceedings.  Golden Hill 

v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 200-201.  In light of the BIA’s findings, the only legal conclusion that 

this Court can reach is that the STN lacks tribal status.  As tribal status is one element of a prima 

facie case under the Nonintercourse Act, the BIA’s findings preclude recovery by the STN under 

the Nonintercourse Act as a matter of law.  Id., at 201.   

A. Tribal Status Is Required Both for Standing and the Merits of a Claim 
Under the Nonintercourse Act. 

  
The Schaghticoke Tribal Nation asserts its claims to the land in question in these matters 

pursuant to the provisions of the Nonintercourse Act.  That Act restricts the transfers of land 

“from any Indian nation or tribe of Indians” without the approval of Congress.   25 U.S.C. § 177.  

To have standing to pursue such claims and to establish violation of the Nonintercourse Act, the 

STN must first demonstrate that it was, and continues to be, an Indian tribe.  Delaware Nation v. 

Pennsylvania, 446 F.3d 410 (3d Cir. 2006); Seneca Nation of Indians v. New York, 382 F. 3d 

245, 258 (2nd Cir. 2004); Golden Hill Paugussett Tribe of Indians v. Weicker, 39 F. 3d 51, 56-57 

(2nd Cir. 1994); Mashpee Tribe v. New Seabury Corp., 592 F.2d 575, 579, 581 (1st Cir. 1979), 

cert. denied, 444 U.S. 866 (1979).  As standing is a jurisdictional prerequisite, the lack of tribal 

status deprives the court of subject matter jurisdiction.  See United States v. Hays, 515 U. S. 737, 

742 (1995); LaFleur v. Whitman, 300 F.3d 256, 269 (2nd Cir. 2002). 

The STN is not a federally recognized Indian tribe.  Indeed, the federal government has 

expressly denied the STN’s petition for federal acknowledgment.  For most purposes, courts 
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have held that the federal administrative acknowledgment process is an administrative remedy 

that must be exhausted by an unrecognized tribe before seeking judicial relief as an Indian tribe.  

United Tribe of Shawnee Indians v. United States, 253 F.3d 543, 550-51 (10th Cir. 2001); 

Western Shoshone Business Council v. Babbitt, 1 F.3d 1052, 1057 (10th Cir. 1993);  James v. 

U.S. Dept. of Health & Human Services., 824 F.2d 1132, 1137 (D.C. Cir. 1987); Native 

American Mohegans v. United States, 184 F. Supp. 2d 198, 222-23 (D. Conn. 2002).  However, 

as the Second Circuit noted, “tribal status for purposes of obtaining federal benefits is not 

necessarily the same as tribal status under the Nonintercourse Act.”  Golden Hill v. Weicker, 39 

F.3d at 57.  Nonetheless, it is one thing for a court to evaluate a plaintiff’s purported tribal status 

in the absence of a federal administrative determination of tribal acknowledgment.  See Joint 

Tribal Council of Passamaquoddy Tribe v. Morton, 528 F.2d 370, 377 (1st Cir. 1975) (lack of 

formal recognition by federal government does not necessarily preclude tribal status under the 

Nonintercourse Act, but executive view on tribal status is of “great significance”).  It is a wholly 

different matter when the plaintiff has sought acknowledgment through the administrative 

process, and the federal government has explicitly rejected tribal acknowledgment. 

B. In All Respects Material to the STN, the Factual Inquiry for Determining 
Tribal Status under the Nonintercourse Act and Federal Tribal 
Acknowledgment Are Substantively the Same. 

 
In land claims actions under the Nonintercourse Act, courts have applied the so-called 

Montoya test for determining tribal status in the absence of federal acknowledgment.  United 

States v. Candelaria, 271 U.S. 432, 441-42 (1926); Mashpee, 592 F.2d at 582; Passamaquoddy, 

528 F.2d at 377.  The Montoya test, which was developed long before the formal administrative 

process for recognition was established, requires a four-part showing:  a plaintiff must 
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demonstrate that it is (a) “a body of Indians of the same or similar race,” (b) “united in a 

community,” (c) “under one leadership or government,” and (d) “inhabiting a particular though 

sometimes ill-defined territory.”  Montoya v. United States, 180 U.S. 261, 266 (1901).   

Although at first blush the Montoya standard appears relatively simple and broadly 

stated, judicial applications of the standard have provided further content to the four 

requirements.  First, to be “united in a community,” a tribe must exist distinct and apart from 

others.  United States v. Washington, 641 F.2d 1368, 1373 (9th Cir. 1981), cert. denied, 454 U.S. 

1143 (1982); Mashpee, 592 F.2d at 586.  Although a tribe must be “Indians of the same or 

similar race,” a tribe cannot be based solely on a racial or ethnic basis.  United States v. Antelope, 

430 U.S. 641, 645 (1977).  Tribal status must be based on the existence of a political community.  

Rice v. Cayetano, 528 U.S. 495, 518-20 (2000); Morton v. Mancari, 417 U.S. 535, 553 (1974).  

Thus, a tribe is more than just a private, voluntary organization of individuals of Indian descent; 

it is a distinct community with authority or influence over internal and social relationships 

among its members.  United States v. Mazurie, 419 U.S. 544, 557 (1975).  

To be “under one leadership or government,” a tribe must have some degree of control or 

influence over its own internal affairs and the relations between its leaders and members.  

Mashpee, 592 F.2d at 582-83.  Political leadership must be meaningful in that it must extend 

beyond just a core group of involved members to include a predominant portion of the 

membership of the group.  Id. at 584.  Although a formal government complete with coercive or 

binding authority is not required, tribal status is dependent on the exercise of a significant degree 

of influence on significant issues in the lives of members.  Id. at 584-85.  Moreover, sporadic, 

crisis-oriented leadership is insufficient.  There must be a sustained continuity of tribal 
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leadership.  Id. at 583, 585.  Without such leadership or at least informal political influence, a 

tribe does not exist under the Montoya standard.  Id.  at 585. 

Finally, a tribe must have continuously maintained itself as a distinct community with a 

political organization or structure.  Washington, 641 F.2d at 1373.  The requirement of continuity 

is essential to tribal status.  It reflects the need for a group to maintain its distinct community and 

the exercise of its authority throughout history to retain its tribal sovereignty.  Id.; United Tribe 

of Shawnee Indians, 255 F.3d at 548; see also Montana v. Blackfeet Tribe of Indians, 471 U. S. 

759, 764 (1985). 

The acknowledgment standards promulgated and administered by the BIA are quite 

similar, if not identical, in pertinent respects to the judicial standards.  Federal acknowledgment 

or recognition of an Indian tribe is the formal political act of acknowledging and confirming the 

continual existence through history of a tribe as a distinct political community entitled to a 

government-to-government relationship with the federal government.  25 C.F.R. § 83.2; 

COHEN’S HANDBOOK OF FEDERAL INDIAN LAW § 3.02[3], at 138 (2005).  Although historically, 

Indian tribes have been recognized in many different ways, including by treaty, congressional 

enactment, executive or administrative action, or, in rare instances, court decision, see Id., §§ 

3.02[5], 3.02[6], since 1978 federal acknowledgment has been delegated to an administrative 

process within Department of the Interior (DOI).  25 C.F.R. Part 83.  See Kahawaiolaa v. 

Norton, 386 F.3d 1271, 1273-4 (9th Cir. 2004). 
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In 1978, the DOI adopted regulations establishing a process for federal recognition of 

Indian tribes.  43 Fed. Reg. 39,361 (Sept. 5, 1978).  The regulations were amended in 1994.8  59 

Fed. Reg.  9280 (Mar. 28, 1994).  In promulgating the acknowledgment regulations in 1978, DOI 

stated:  

The Department must be assured of the tribal character of the petitioner before the group 
is acknowledged.  Although the petitioners must be American Indians, groups of 
descendants will not be acknowledged solely on a racial basis.  Maintenance of tribal 
relations – a political relationship – is indispensable.   

 
43 Fed. Reg. 39361, 39362 (Sept. 5, 1978).  Moreover, the acknowledgment regulations are 

explicitly derived from and are to be interpreted in light of case law concerning tribal status.  As 

the BIA has stated in describing the intent of the acknowledgment regulations: 

The Federal government has an obligation to protect and preserve the inherent 
sovereign rights of all Indian tribes, whether a tribe has been recognized in the past or 
not.  The regulations governing the Acknowledgment process (25 CFR 83) state the 
requirements that unrecognized groups must meet to be acknowledged as having a 
government-to-government relationship with the United States 
 
The legal and policy precedents for acknowledgment are codified in the regulations.  
These precedents also provide the fundamental basis for interpreting the regulations.  The 
acknowledgment criteria are based on and consistent with the past determinations of 
tribal existence by Congress, the courts, and the Executive Branch.  These past 
determinations have required that to be acknowledged as having tribal status a group 
must have maintained social solidarity and distinctness and exercised political influence 
or authority throughout history until the present.  

 
                                                           
8 The amendments to the regulations provided for a reduced burden of proof for petitioners with 
evidence of previous federal acknowledgment, 25 C.F.R. § 83.8; independent review of a final 
determination by the Interior Board of Indian Appeals, including the opportunity for a hearing 
before an administrative law judge, id. § 83.11; and other procedural changes.  59 Fed. Reg.  
9280 (1994).  The amendments were not intended to “result in the acknowledgment of 
petitioners which would not have been acknowledged under the previously effective 
acknowledgment regulations” or “to result in the denial of petitioners which would have been 
acknowledged under the previous regulations.  Id.  The substantive criteria remained the same.  
The STN’s petition was decided under the amended regulations.  

 14

Case 2:85-cv-01078-AWT   Document 307    Filed 02/07/12   Page 14 of 28



Final Determination That the Miami Nation of Indians of the State of Indiana., Inc. Do Not Exist 

as an Indian Tribe, at p. I.B.1.5 (June 9, 1992), <http://www.bia.gov/idc/groups/xofa/ 

documents/text/idc-001516.pdf> accessed Feb. 2, 2012, , aff’d, Miami Nation of Indians of 

Indiana, Inc. v. Babbitt, 112 F.Supp.2d 742 (N.D. Ind. 2000), aff’d, 255 F.3d 342 (7th Cir. 2001), 

cert. denied, 534 U.S. 1129 (2002).  Indeed, in doing so, it specifically referenced the Montoya 

standard.  Id.  

 The acknowledgement regulations establish seven “mandatory” criteria that a petitioning 

group must satisfy9:  (a) identification as an American Indian entity since 1900 (25 C.F.R. § 

83.7(a));  (b) continuous existence as a distinct community since historical10 times (id., § 

83.7(b));  (c) continuous maintenance of political influence or authority over members as an 

autonomous entity since historical times (id., § 83.7(c));  (d) a governing document including 

membership criteria (id., § 83.7(d));  (e) descent from a historical Indian tribe and membership 

list (id., § 83.7(e));  (f) membership is composed principally of persons not members of an 

acknowledged tribe (id., § 83.7(f));  and (g) no congressional legislation terminating or 

forbidding acknowledgement (id., § 83.7(g)).11   

                                                           
9  In Miami Nation of Indians of Indiana, Inc. v. Babbitt, 887 F.Supp. 1158, 1165 (N.D. Ind. 
1995), aff’d 255 F.3d 342, 346 (7th Cir. 2001, cert den. 534 U.S. 1129 (2002), the court found 
that the acknowledgment regulations were properly promulgated under Congress’ delegation of 
authority to the President and Secretary of the Interior to prescribe regulations concerning Indian 
affairs and relations.   
 
10 “Historical” is defined as dating from first sustained contact with non-Indians.  25 C.F.R. § 
83.1. 

11 The regulations provide a detailed, nonexclusive description of how each of the criteria can be 
satisfied.   
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Some of these seven are not explicit parts of the Montoya standard – for example, 

criterion (d), which requires a governing document, or criterion (g), which requires that Congress 

has not terminated tribal status – but would nonetheless be relevant to Montoya’s inquiry.  

However, the three core criteria – (b) continuous existence as a distinct community, (c) 

continuous maintenance of political influence or authority, and (e) descent from a historical 

Indian tribe – are substantively the same as the central components of the Montoya test.  

Significantly, the BIA determined that the STN failed to satisfy two (2) of those core criteria.   

C. The BIA’s Findings in the Reconsidered Final Determination Rejecting the 
STN’s Petition for Federal Acknowledgment Demonstrate That the STN 
Lacks Tribal Status for All Purposes. 

 
 As the Second Circuit stated, the Montoya test and the regulatory criteria “both have 

anthropological, political, geographical and cultural bases and require, at a minimum, a 

community with a political structure.”  Golden Hill v. Weiker, 39 F.3d at 59 (emphasis added).  

Although the two may not always necessarily yield the same results, the BIA’s findings in the 

STN’s RFD demonstrate in all material respects that the STN lacks tribal status for purposes of 

both federal acknowledgment and the Non-Intercourse Act.  In particular, the BIA found (1) a 

lack of a distinct community for approximately 54 years from 1920 to 1967 and after 1996 and 

(2) a lack of political authority for approximately 165 years from 1801 to 1875, 1885 to 1967, 

and after 1996.  RFD, at 37-38, 44-45, 57-58, 61-62.  Accordingly, the Reconsidered Final 

Determination found that the STN had failed to provide sufficient evidence to demonstrate that it 

was an Indian tribe entitled to acknowledgment of a government-to-government relationship 

with the United States.  Schaghticoke, 587 F.Supp.2d at 409.  Given these findings, no basis 

exists to conclude that the STN has tribal status for purposes of the Non-Intercourse Act. 
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D Both as a Matter of the Deference Under the Primary Jurisdiction Doctrine 

and as a Matter of Collateral Estoppel, the STN May Not Re-litigate the 
BIA’s Factual Findings.  

 
 The BIA’s factual findings should control this Court’s resolution of the STN’s tribal 

status under the Montoya standard.  In applying the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, courts have 

avoided hard-and-fast rules, instead evaluating its application on a case-by-case basis.  United 

States v. Western Pacific RR Co., 352 U.S. 59, 64 (1956); Tassy v. Brunswick Hospital Center, 

Inc., 296 F.3d 65, 68 (2d Cir. 2002).  In the unique context of this matter, however, primary 

jurisdiction requires the Court to defer to, and accept as conclusive, the factual findings 

underlying the BIA’s decision not to acknowledge the STN.  In addition, the principle of 

collateral estoppel applies fully to the BIA’s findings.  Under either doctrine, the STN is 

precluded from re-litigating the BIA’s findings. 

First, the STN should not be permitted to collaterally attack the BIA’s findings in this 

litigation.  The proper vehicle to challenge the BIA’s findings was through its appeal under the 

APA.  5 U.S.C. § 701 et seq.; see Miami Nation of Indiana, 255 F.3d at 348-49.  The STN 

pursued that avenue with the court concluding that the Reconsidered Final Decision was neither 

arbitrary, capricious, nor an abuse of discretion nor otherwise made in violation of law.  

Schaghticoke, 587 F.Supp.2d at 421-422.  The court specifically reviewed the findings reached 

in the RFD that the Schaghticoke had failed to establish “community” (criterion (b)) and 

“political authority” (criterion (c)) from historical times to the present, finding the RFD to be 

thorough, rational, well reasoned, based upon the directives of the IBIA and based upon a 
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reasonable interpretation of the regulations and agency precedent.  Schaghticoke, 587 F.Supp.2d 

at 413-414, 415-416 and 418.   

The Supreme Court has stated that in applying the doctrine of primary jurisdiction, an 

agency’s determination, itself subject to judicial review, “would obviate any necessity for the 

[district] court to re-litigate the issues actually disposed of by the agency decision.”  Ricci v. 

Chicago Mercantile Exchange, 409 U.S. 289, 305-06 (1973).  Here, the STN has obtained 

judicial review of the BIA’s Reconsidered Final Determination.  Given such circumstances, the 

STN should not be permitted now to re-litigate the factual findings made by the BIA.  The very 

reason that the litigation was stayed and the issue of the STN’s tribal status referred to the BIA 

under the primary jurisdiction doctrine was to permit the BIA to determine whether the STN 

existed as an Indian tribe for purposes of its Nonintercourse Act claims.  As such, the issue of 

STN’s status as an Indian tribe was actually disposed of by the BIA and its decision affirmed on 

appeal.  Id.; Port of Boston Marine Terminal Ass’n v. Rederiaktiebolaget Transatlantic No. 99, 

400 U.S. 62, 72 (1970);. Golden Hill v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 197-198.  

 Permitting re-litigation of the facts surrounding the STN’s tribal status in these actions 

would contravene the justifications for invoking the primary jurisdiction doctrine in the first 

instance – the BIA’s superior expertise and authority to make the relevant factual determinations 

and the need for consistency in results.  Golden Hill v. Weicker, 39 F.3d at 59-60; see also Ellis 

v. Tribune Television Co., 443 F.3d 71, 81-82 (2d Cir. 2006); Tassy, 296 F.3d at 67-68.  The twin 

justifications for primary jurisdiction – agency expertise and uniformity – demand that this court 

accept as settled the BIA’s findings.  As the Supreme Court articulated: 
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Uniformity and consistency in the regulation of [a subject matter] entrusted to a particular 
agency are secured, and the limited functions of review by the judiciary are more 
rationally exercised, by preliminary resort for ascertaining and interpreting the 
circumstances underlying legal issues to agencies that are better equipped than courts by 
specialization, by insight gained through experience, and by more flexible procedure.    

 
Far East Conf. v. United States, 342 U.S. 570, 574 (1952); see also Federal Maritime Bd. v. 

Isbrandtsen Co., 356 U.S. 481, 498 (1958).  In other words, under the doctrine of primary 

jurisdiction and the deference due the BIA thereunder, what is left for this Court is to apply the 

relevant law – the Montoya standard – to the facts found by the BIA. 

 The doctrine of collateral estoppel also precludes the STN from relitigating the factual 

issues found by the BIA.  Golden Hill v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 198.  It is well-established that 

preclusion may apply to factual issues decided by an administrative agency.  The courts have 

“long favored application of the common-law doctrines of collateral estoppel (as to issues) and 

res judicata (as to claims) to those determinations of administrative bodies that have attained 

finality.”  Astoria Fed. Sav. & Loan Ass’n v. Solimino, 501 U.S. 104, 107, 111 S.Ct. 2166, 115 

L.Ed.2d 96 (1991).  Precluding re-litigation of issues decided by an administrative agency is  

justified on the sound and obvious principle of judicial policy that a losing litigant 
deserves no rematch after a defeat fairly suffered, in adversarial proceedings, on an issue 
identical in substance to the one he subsequently asks to raise.  To hold otherwise would, 
as a general matter, impose unjustifiably upon those who have already shouldered their 
burdens, and drain the resources of an adjudicatory system with disputes resisting 
resolution. 

 
Id. at 107-08.  This is a particularly compelling rationale in the pending cases.  Allowing the 

STN to re-litigate its status as an Indian tribe would impose an unjustifiable burden upon the 

Defendants, the United States, the State of Connecticut and others who have expended 

considerable resources locating, producing and presenting relevant evidence and argument on 
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that very issue.  It would also impose a significant drain on judicial resources for the court to 

have to re-litigate issues that have already been decided at the administrative level.  “[C]ollateral 

estoppels relieve[s] parties of the cost and vexation of multiple lawsuits, conserve[s] judicial 

resources, and, by preventing inconsistent decisions, encourage[s] reliance on adjudication.”  

Allen v. McCurry, 449 U.S. 90, 94 (1980).  These principles apply as much to the BIA’s 

determination that the STN is not an Indian tribe than it would to an earlier judicial 

determination on that issue.  There is every reason to preclude more litigation, and no reason to 

allow the STN to re-litigate its status as an Indian tribe just because it is in a different forum.12  

Absent evidence of a contrary statutory intent, the presumption is that Congress expected the 

common law rules of collateral estoppel to apply to agency decisions.  Astoria Fed. Sav, 501 

U.S. at 108. 

 The principles courts have followed in giving collateral estoppel effect to agency 

determinations are not unlike that for court decisions.  Collateral estoppel should apply (1) to 

issues of fact properly before and necessarily resolved by the agency, (2) which the parties have 

had an adequate opportunity to litigate, (3) where the agency is acting in an adjudicative 

capacity.   United States v. Utah Constr. & Mining Co., 384 U.S. 394, 422 (1966); Metromedia 

                                                           
12  This is particularly true given that the Court’s Scheduling Order was crafted specifically to 
obtain the BIA’s decision on tribal status and avoid litigating that issue.   The Scheduling Oder 
provided for an enhanced administrative process, including discovery, the development and 
release of a digital document data base (FAIR database) and inclusion in that database of all non-
privileged documentation generated or considered in decision making.  The Scheduling Order 
was subsequently amended to provide additional technical assistance and submission of evidence 
and briefs following the IBIA decision to insure that the STN had a full opportunity to present to 
the BIA all evidence and argument pertaining to its status as an Indian tribe.  See Order on 
Motion to Amend Scheduling Order, Docket # 260 in 43.47 Acres of Land, Civ. No 2:85cv1078, 
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Company v. Fugazy, 983 F.2d 350, 365-66 (2d Cir. 1992), cert. denied, 508 U.S. 952 (1993); 

Delamater v. Schweicker, 721 F.2d 50, 53-54 (2d Cir. 1983).  The first two requirements are 

plainly met.  The factual issues – the continuing existence of a distinct community and the 

continuing existence of political leadership – were properly before the BIA and were obviously 

necessary to its resolution of the STN’s acknowledgment petition.  The STN had a full and fair 

opportunity to litigate these issues.   

 The only question, then, is whether the BIA was acting in an adjudicative capacity when 

it issued the final determination on the STN petition.  “An action taken by an administrative 

agency to grant or deny a benefit is not an adjudicated action unless the agency has made its 

decisions using procedures substantially similar to those employed by the courts.”  Delamater, 

721 F.2d at 53-54.  The Restatement (Second) of Judgments, on which the Second Circuit has 

relied on this issue, id., identifies the following factors for assessing whether an administrative 

action is adjudicatory for purposes of preclusion: 

(a) Adequate notice to persons who are bound by the adjudication ...; 
 
(b) The right on behalf of a party to present evidence and legal argument in support of the 
party’s contentions and fair opportunity to rebut the evidence and argument of opposing 
parties; 
 
(c) A formulation of issues of law and fact in terms of the application of rules with 
respect to specified parties concerning a specific transaction, situation, or status, or a 
specific series thereof; 
 
(d) A rule of finality, specifying a point in the proceeding when presentations are 
terminated and a final decision is rendered; and 
 

                                                                                                                                                                                           
Docket # 184 in Kent School Corp., Civ. No. 3:98-cv-01113, and Docket # 97 in Schaghticoke 
Tribal Nation, Civ. No 3:00cv820. 
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(e) Such other procedural elements as may be necessary to constitute the proceeding a 
sufficient means of conclusively determining the matter in question, having regard for the 
magnitude and complexity of the matter in question, the urgency with which the matter 
must be resolved, and the opportunity of the parties to obtain the evidence and formulate 
legal contentions. 

 
Restatement (Second) of Judgments, § 83(2).   

Although the BIA administrative process does not replicate judicial proceedings in all 

details, it is sufficiently similar to the essential procedures courts employ to justify collateral 

estoppel.  Each of the five Restatement factors is present in the BIA process.  Plainly, the STN 

had adequate notice, having itself initiated the BIA’s proceedings.  Similarly, as described above, 

the STN had ample opportunity to present evidence and argument both in support of its petition 

and to rebut evidence and argument of others.  25 C.F.R. §§ 83.6, 83.10.  The issues were 

formulated with application of the acknowledgment criteria to the petitioner’s evidence, and 

there was a final decision issued.  Id., §§ 83.7, 83.10(m).  In this fundamental sense, the BIA 

proceedings on the STN petition was adjudicatory:  a petition was filed, evidence and argument 

was submitted, opportunity to respond to other parties’ evidence and argument was provided, 

and a final decision was made applying established regulatory criteria to the specific facts of the 

petition. 

Moreover, there are significant benefits to a petitioner in the administrative process that 

are not available in court proceedings.  In particular, the administrative process allows a 

petitioner for tribal acknowledgment to receive substantial technical assistance from the BIA on 

how improve the petition, cure any deficiencies and present supporting evidence.  25 C.F.R. §§ 

83.10(b), (c), (j).  The administrative process affords the petitioner the opportunity to comment 

on and respond to proposed decisions, id, § 83.10(h), (i), (j), (k).  Finally the administrative 
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process provides for independent review before the Interior Board of Indian Appeals by 

administrative law judges, id., § 83.11; 43 C.F.R. §4.1(a).  The latter in particular reflects the 

adjudicatory nature of the process.  Proceedings before the IBIA includes briefing by the parties 

with the availability of a hearing on material disputed facts and the opportunity to otherwise 

augment the record.  25 C.F.R. § 83.11(e).   

Although the BIA’s administrative process parallels a judicial process in many respects, 

it is particularly crafted to meet the unique nature of the factual inquiry required for tribal 

acknowledgment.  The factual determinations are highly dependent on historical documentary 

evidence and on anthropological, historical and genealogical analysis and expertise.  It requires 

an examination that may span many centuries.  Although it is possible to submit such an inquiry 

to a traditional judicial process, it certainly would pose an extraordinary and unwieldy task.  It is 

safe to say that the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure were not developed with this kind of inquiry 

in mind.  By contrast, the BIA process was expressly designed to handle the exceptionally 

complex, detailed and expansive evaluation of hundreds of years of history, anthropological data 

and genealogical information.  The BIA assigns staff with expertise in each of these fields.  

Given this context, the differences that exist between the BIA process and traditional court 

procedures are fully justified, and the differences in procedure are more than compensated for by 

the unique procedures available in the administrative process.  Therefore, for purposes of 

applying collateral estoppel, the BIA process is sufficiently adjudicatory in nature to preclude the 

STN from re-litigating the BIA’s factual findings.  Indeed, the BIA’s final determination on the 

petition for acknowledgement filed by the Golden Hill Paugussett Indian Tribe was expressly 
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found to be an “adjudicative” decision sufficient to support the application of the collateral 

estoppels doctrine.  Judge Arterton stated:   

… [T]he Court must next consider whether the BIAs Final Determination 
constituted an “adjudicative” determination, by applying the Section 83(2) 
factors.  The procedures set out by the BIA regulations provide for notice, 
presentation of evidence and arguments (including the opportunity to revise and 
supplement), as well as the opportunity to respond to the evidence and arguments 
of other interested parties and the proposed finding of the BIA, the clear 
application of seven mandatory criteria for federal tribal acknowledgment (which 
the BIA’s Final Determination reflects), and rules of finality, including 
procedures for internal reconsideration and review, as well as judicial review 
under the APA.  Thus, the Court concludes that the BIA’s Final Determination 
was an “adjudicative” one sufficient for application of the collateral estoppels 
doctrine.   
 

Golden Hill v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d. at 200. 

Finally, given the exceptional significance that tribal acknowledgment entails in that it 

establishes a government-to-government relationship between the United States and the Indian 

tribe, see Miami Nation, 255 F.3d at 346; United Tribe of Shawnee Indians, 253 F.3d at 550-51; 

James, 824 F.2d at 1137, the application of collateral estoppel is entirely consistent with 

Congressional intent that decisions be made by the BIA through the administrative process.  See 

Astoria 501 U.S. at 108-11; Duvall v. Attorney General, 436 F.3d 382, 387-88 (3d Cir. 2006).  

Although the ultimate legal determination of tribal status through the application of the Montoya 

standard rests with the court, that decision should be predicated on the BIA’s factual findings.  

See Golden Hill v. Weicker, 43 F.3d at 60. 

E. Applying the Montoya Test to the BIA’s Findings, the STN Unquestionably 
Lacks Standing to Pursue Its Land Claims. 

 
 Application of the Montoya test in the cases now before the court is a straightforward 

task with a straightforward result:  The STN is not an Indian tribe within the meaning of the 
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Nonintercourse Act.  Because the STN is not an Indian tribe within the meaning of that Act, it 

cannot assert its claims for the return of land allegedly conveyed in violation of that Act.  The 

BIA’s factual findings, upheld through subsequent APA judicial review, dictate the conclusion 

that the STN cannot demonstrate that it is an Indian tribe and, thus, precludes its recovery of the 

lands claimed under the Nonintercourse Act.  Golden Hill v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 200.   

 Despite an administrative record containing some 6,774 documents totaling some 47,000 

pages (see footnote 4), the BIA found that the STN had presented insufficient evidence to 

establish that it existed as a distinct community from 1920 to 1967 and after 1996.  RFD, at 37-

38, 44-45.  Therefore, the Schaghticoke have not been and are not now a tribal group “united in 

a community.”  Second, the BIA found that the STN had presented insufficient evidence of 

political authority or influence for the periods from 1801 to 1875, 1885 to 1967, and after 1996 - 

a total of 165 years.  Id. at 57-58, 61-62.  Thus, the STN has not been, and is not now, a 

community “under one leadership or government.”  Giving collateral effect to these findings 

preclude the STN from establishing that it exists as an Indian tribe under Montoya.  Golden Hill 

v. Rell, 463 F.Supp.2d at 200.  The only conclusion is that the STN is not a group that has 

continuously maintained itself as a distinct social and political community from historical times 

to the present; and that the STN does not have standing to pursue the Nonintercourse Act claims 

as an Indian tribe.  Montoya, 180 U.S. at 266; Washington, 641 F.3d at 1373; Mashpee, 592 F.2d 

at 585-86.   

VI. CONCLUSION 

 The BIA’s Reconsidered Final Determination conclusively rejected the STN’s claim that 

it is an Indian tribe entitled to federal acknowledgment, which is a threshold issue under the 
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STN’s Nonintercourse Act claims.  According the BIA’s findings the deference they are due 

under the doctrine of primary jurisdiction and according them preclusive effect under the rules of 

collateral estoppel, the STN lacks tribal standing as a matter of law, and its claims must be 

dismissed for lack of subject matter jurisdiction. 

 For the foregoing reasons, the Defendants’ Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings should 

be granted.  The STN’s complaints in Schaghticoke Tribal Nation v. Kent School Corporation, 

Inc., et al, Docket 3:98-cv-1113 (PCD) and Schaghticoke Tribal Nation v. United States of 

America et al, Docket 3:00-cv-820 (PCD) should be dismissed.  In United States of America v. 

43.47 Acres of Land, Docket 2:85-cv 1078 (PCD), judgment should enter in favor of the United 

States on the STN’s affirmative defenses.   
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 Waterbury, CT 06721 
 Phone: (203) 573-1200 
 Fax: (203) 575-2600 
 e-mail: rstreet@carrnodylaw.com 
Their Attorneys 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I hereby certify that on February 7, 2012, a copy of foregoing Memorandum of Law in 
Support of Motion for Judgment on the Pleadings, together with Exhibits A through D,  was filed 
electronically and served by mail on anyone unable to accept electronic filing.  Notice of this 
filing will be sent by e-mail to all parties by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system or 
by mail to anyone unable to accept electronic filing as indicated on the Notice of Electronic 
Filing.  Parties may access this filing through the Court’s CM/ECF system. 
 
 A copy of the foregoing Memorandum of Law in Support of Motion for Judgment on the 
Pleadings, together with Exhibits A through D, was also served by mail on the following:  

 
Schaghticoke Tribal Nation 
Attn:  Richard L. Velky 
101 Elizabeth Street 
Derby, CT 06418 
 
Schaghticoke Tribal Nation 
Attn:  Richard L. Velky 
626 Washington Road 
Woodbury, CT  06798  
 
Loretta E. Bonos, Pro Se (deceased) 
Admin. of the Est. of Florence E.M. Baker Bonos 
c/o Kenneth D. McCall, Esq. 
Admin. of the Estate of Loretta E. Bonos 
433 Q Street 
Washington, D.C. 20001 
 
 

 
       /s/ Jeffrey B. Sienkiewicz (ct06371 
 Jeffrey B. Sienkiewicz (ct06371) 
 Sienkiewicz & McKenna, PC 
 18 Aspetuck Ridge Road, P.O. Box 786 
 New Milford, CT 06776 
 Phone: (860) 354-1583 
 Fax: (860) 355-4439 
 e-mail: nrn4jds@aol.com 
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